# CEDR Transnational Road Research Programme Call 2016: Environmentally Sustainable Roads: Surfaceand Groundwater Quality

funded by Austria, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Norway, Netherlands and Sweden



# MICROPROOF Micropollutants in Road RunOff

# Processes and unit operations for road runoff management

Deliverable 4.1 June 2019

The Netherlands Organisation for Applied Scientific Research (TNO), the Netherlands Wageningen Marine Research (WMR), the Netherlands Aalborg University (AAU), Denmark M.P. Shulgin State Road Research Institute State Enterprise – DerzhdorNDI SE (DNDI), Ukraine

# CEDR Call 2016: Environmentally Sustainable Roads: Surface- and Groundwater Quality MICROPROOF Micropollutants in Road RunOff

# Processes and unit operations for road runoff management

Actual delivery date draft:21/03/2019 Actual delivery date final: 27/06/2019

Start date of project: 01/09/2017

#### Author(s) of this deliverable:

Jes Vollertsen, Aalborg University, Denmark

PEB Project contact: Rob Hofman

Version: Final, 06/2019

# Table of contents

1	Background		
2	Process	es and unit operations that retain OMPs and microplastics	1
2	2.1 Par	.1 Particles and their trapping	
	2.1.1	Particulate pollutants and pollutants associated to particles	1
	2.1.2	Precipitation	2
	2.1.3	Sorption	2
	2.1.4	Sedimentation	3
	2.1.5	Other mechanisms causing particles to become part of pond sediments	4
	2.1.6	Erosion and resuspension	5
	2.1.7	Filtration	5
2	2.2 Degradation of OMP and MP		6
	2.2.1	Plant uptake	7
	2.2.2	Dilution and equalization of OMP and MP discharges	7
3	Final remarks		7
4	Acknowledgement		8
5	5 References		8



# 1 Background

A variety of measures and treatment systems are presently applied to treat road runoff with the purpose of reducing the possible risk of pollutants conveyed herein. Measures like filtration (infiltration into road shoulders, banks, and ditches; filter units discharging to surface waters) or sedimentation (retention ponds or artificial wetlands) are used to reduce the amount of pollutants that will reach a water body. The efficiency of these treatment systems depends not only on the treatment system characteristics but also on a wide range of pollutant characteristics.

With respect to organic micropollutants (OMP), it is important whether the substance is entrapped in a particle or free to sorb and desorb from solid phases (whether it is dissolvable). In this context an important aspect is its ability to sorb to organic materials and inorganic minerals. These parameters determine whether filtration and sedimentation can remove the substance in question. A further aspect that is required to assess the efficiency of treatment systems to retain OMP, is the degree to which these can be degraded, being it biologically or chemically.

Microplastics (MP), on the other hand, behave somewhat differently as they always are particulate. Filtration will hence be an efficient way to retain MP. In an aquatic system like a pond or a wetland, some in principle will sink while other in principle will float as they have a density ranging from approx. 0.8 to 2.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. MP may also be subject to coagulation, sorption to surfaces, biofilm growth, and predation with subsequent excretion of the MP as part of the faecal pellet.

# 2 Processes and unit operations that retain OMPs and microplastics

### 2.1 Particles and their trapping

Particles are important vectors for OMP, and MP are themselves particles. Hence the process which in general leads to particles being retained do also lead to OMP and MP being retained. With respect to OMP, it is furthermore important to which degree they are associated with particles.

#### 2.1.1 Particulate pollutants and pollutants associated to particles

Particulate pollutants like MP, OMP entrapped in particles, OMP sorbed to suspended particles, and OMP precipitated by technical or natural processes, are generally removed from the water phase by becoming part of the system's sediments or by filtration. Particulates range from colloidal particles (colloids) to macroscopic particles. Colloids are so small that their movement in a liquid is completely governed by thermal energy. They consist of a number of associated molecules and are significantly larger than most single molecules. Particles are termed colloids as long as they stay suspended in a liquid and do not settle out, even though their density differs from the density of the liquid. There is no clear boundary between what is a dissolved substance, a colloid, and a macroscopic particle. As the particle size increases, particle movement becomes governed by gravitational forces and the particles settle or float in a liquid. In terms of treatment, the settling behaviour of particles is



of major interest as much of the pollutants in road runoff are either particulate or associated with particles.

Fine particles and colloids can coagulate due to attractive forces e.g. van der Waals attraction forces. These forces result from the non-permanent induced dipoles within a colloidal particle or molecule. Various external conditions affect the stability of the coagulated particles, especially the water's pH, ionic strength, temperature, and turbulence. Generally, colloids in road runoff are negatively charged (Hvitved-Jacobsen et al., 2010) and coagulation hence requires an initial step where a positively charged coagulant, for example naturally present iron, aluminium or natural polymers, initiate the formation of larger particles. Upon coagulation, the formed particles tend to flocculate – a process affected by the turbulence of the liquid and its viscosity. In summary, coagulation and flocculation can allow colloids to come together so that the agglomerated material ultimately can settle in the liquid or be filtered out by a porous media.

#### 2.1.2 Precipitation

Truly dissolved substances might be directly precipitated as compounds of low water solubility. Or they might be precipitated by complex formation with compounds of low water solubility. The latter is probably the most common phenomenon. An example is iron(III)hydroxide (ferric hydroxide), which also can lead to complex formation with various ligands, including some of the dissolved substances. Formation of metal complexes is for example a mechanism for getting heavy metals out of solution. The degree of complexation and hence removal of dissolved substances will depend strongly on the speciation of the metal. Detailed information on this can for example be gained from speciation and phase diagrams that are based on thermodynamic data or from computer programs which predict speciation. Speciation of metals depend strongly on pH and redox potential. For example, iron(III)-complexes often bind a wide range of substances. When conditions favour reduction of iron(III) to iron(II), previously bound substances may be released back into solution. This phenomenon is, for example, seen during eutrophication-induced oxygen depletion where anaerobic sediments release previously bound metals and phosphorous (e.g. Vink et al., 2017).

The precipitation-products are colloids and will behave as such, meaning they can coagulate and flocculate and ultimately settle out of the water column. They will do so together with naturally occurring colloids. Addition of, for example, iron salts will hence lead to removal of not only substances that react directly with the iron but also of substances associated with other colloids, which then are removed by coagulation/flocculation.

#### 2.1.3 Sorption

A number of substances exhibit partitioning between solid and liquid phases. Partitioning between phases is a complex phenomenon, depending on the substance itself (the sorbate) and the solid phase to which it is sorbed (the sorbent). It does, though, also depend on environmental conditions such as pH, ionic strength, and competing sorbates. For stormwater pollutants, the most important sorbents belong to the groups of organic particles and clay minerals (Arias-Estevez et al., 2008). Technical sorption materials such as limestone, zeolite, activated carbon, olivine, and so on are also effective to sorb a wide range of substances.



A vast number of studies have addressed the sorption of various pollutants to a diversity of matrices under a range of conditions, see for example Delle Site (2002). For many practical applications it has been assumed that there is a correlation between a substance's hydrophobicity measured by its  $K_{OW}$  value (octanol-water partitioning coefficient) and its ability to sorb in natural systems such as stormwater treatment facilities. This assumption gives, however, only an indication of the relative degree of magnitude of sorption and not an exact value (e.g. Bollmann et al., 2015; Styszko et al., 2014).

Sorption can be divided into two phenomena, namely adsorption and absorption. Adsorption is the adherence of substances onto the surface of a particle. The interactions between a substance in solution and a solid surface are governed by forces across the liquid–solid interface. The substance partitions according to the intermolecular forces, creating either electron-pair bonds or permanent and mutually induced dipoles, binding the substance to the solid. Details on sorption mechanisms can be found in many textbooks on physicochemistry, for example Atkins and de Paula (2014).

Absorption covers the phenomenon where a substance penetrates into a different phase such as a liquid or solid – contrary to adsorption where it is bound to its surface. One can pragmatically view absorption as an uptake of a substance into a different phase, e.g. from the water phase into a solid phase (dissolved substances can to some degree move in a solid phase, for example a polymeric phase like plastics).

Adsorption is an equilibrium process with a constant ratio between the concentration adsorbed on the solid ( $C_{solid}$ ) and the concentration in the liquid ( $C_{water}$ ):

$$K_{s,w} = \frac{C_{solid}}{C_{liquid}}$$

 $K_{s,w}$ , also often called  $K_d$ , is termed the partitioning coefficient. Besides depending on the substance and the solid, its actual value will depend on conditions in the water phase like  $C_{liquid}$ , pH, ionic strength and redox conditions, and on the surface area of the solid phase. For organic substances, the  $K_{ow}$  of the substance (its octanol-water partitioning coefficient) is often used as a rough estimate on how well it will sorb to an organic matrix. The higher the value, the better the sorption.

Often sorption is described by sorption isotherms linking water phase and solid phase concentrations. The most common isotherms models applied to describe sorption equilibrium are the Freundlich isotherm, the Langmuir isotherm and the linear isotherm.

Adsorption is not always an instantaneous process and may require minutes to hours to run to completion (e.g. Wium-Andersen et al., 2012). Adsorption kinetics relevant for a process in road runoff treatment are typically well-described by 2<sup>nd</sup> order rate expressions including both the sorbent and the sorbate.

#### 2.1.4 Sedimentation

Sedimentation is commonly described using Stokes law or modifications hereof. While Stokes law for the settling of particles is not physically wrong, it does have severe limitations in terms of fully describing processes within a stormwater management facility. Its assumptions – namely that particles must be spherical and rigid, the viscosity of the fluid is the predominant limitation on acceleration, there is no interaction with other particles or substances in the water, and that the water is not in motion – are in practice seldom valid. In



practice Stokes law tends to only give reasonable estimates for inorganic particles (sand) in the range of probably some  $40 - 100 \mu m$  and hence only targets a very limited part of the relevant size and density range (Hvitved-Jacobsen et al., 2010). Other theories do exist for the settling of particles within turbulent conditions. However, due to the wide diversity of particle size, shape, and density, the coagulation, flocculation and stability of aggregated particles, as well as the complex macroscopic hydraulics, these models also are challenged when it comes to real systems. In addition hereto, the exact boundary conditions in terms of particle sizes, particle shapes, particle density, inflow patterns, wind induced mixing, and so on, are unknown at the detailed level (Andradottir, 2017). Hence with the need to describe sedimentation using empirical expressions emerges. This typically boils down to surface loadings or volumetric loadings combined with guidelines on how to design the specifics of a certain sedimentation system, for example a retention pond.

Recent studies (unpublished) have shown that MP of density less than that of water are abundant in the sediments of stormwater ponds. How this can be is not well understood, but it seems obvious that sedimentation cannot be the mechanism causing this (as the particles would float). Some simple calculations using Stokes law illustrates this. A rather heavy particle, for example of PET (polyethylene terephthalate) of 100  $\mu$ m will in 10°C water settle with 5.7 m/h and hence easily be able to settle out in a pond of, say, 1 m water depth. A smaller particle, for example of 10  $\mu$ m, will only settle with 0.057 m/h. A lighter particle, say of PS (polystyrene) of 1.04 g/cm<sup>3</sup> would still be able to settle if it is 100  $\mu$ m, as this particle would sink with 0.60 m/h. However, a 10  $\mu$ m particle would only sink with 0.006 m/h. Particles of PP (polypropylene) or PE (polyethylene) are lighter than water and should float. Large tire particles (TP) and tire road and wear particles (TRWP) should sink as they are heavier than water.

#### 2.1.5 Other mechanisms causing particles to become part of pond sediments

Recent and still unpublished studies (Liu et al., in prep; Olesen et al., in prep) indicate that particles which do not settle by gravity (for example because their density is lower than that of the water) can still be detained by urban stormwater ponds and become incorporated in their sediments. Very little or no published information is available on this. However, it is wellknown from marine science that the so-called "marine snow" can lead to the settling of otherwise buoyant particles, for example buoyant microplastics (Porter et al., 2018; Summers et al., 2018; Linders et al., 2018). Another possible pathway is the uptake and excretion of microplastics. Microplastics are excreted in pellets together with natural substances (Straub et al., 2017). These pellets will have a larger size and possibly also a higher overall density than the microplastics, and can hence be a transport mechanism to convey the microplastics from the water column to the sediment phase. Which processes actually lead to the buoyant microplastics particles to be found in the sediments of water bodies like retention ponds is though unknown. The processes might have to some degree be alike to the processes that cause carbon sequestration in the oceans (Giering et al, 2017; Stukel et al, 2018; Wekerle et al., 2018; Richardson, 2019), but these processes have not yet been studied in stormwater treatment systems.

For particles with low settling velocities like some of the fine microplastics discussed above, convection will probably be a more important transport mechanism than sedimentation. The exact amount of convective transport in a stormwater pond will depend on a number of parameters related to the pond itself (its geometry, depth, wind shadow, and so on), temperature, and external conditions like wind and inflow. So did for example Madsen et al. (2007) observe that an inert tracer added to the highway pond they tested was completely mixed into the water phase within 24 hours. This leads to the hypothesis that fine particles



can be trapped on surfaces like the pond sediments while on their convection-driven random walk in the pond water column – a process that is commonly acknowledged when modelling particle transport in water bodies (e.g. Zhurbas et al., 2010).

#### 2.1.6 Erosion and resuspension

Particles once deposited should stay deposited. However, this is not always the case as changes in hydraulic conditions may lead to erosion and resuspension of previously settled material. The erosive conditions might be caused by large inflows or by wind creating internal flows in the water column (Bentzen et al., 2009). Resuspension can also occur at the outlet of a facility if the local velocity causes critical sheer stresses to be exceeded. As with sedimentation, these processes are in practice difficult to describe deterministically as there are too many unknowns and unknowables. For example the degree to which the sediments are cohesive, where sediments actually deposit, plant growths protect sediments from resuspension, and so on. Also here design in practice therefore boils down to empirical guidelines.

#### 2.1.7 Filtration

Filtration is an effective approach to retain particles. Its efficiency depends on the media through which it occurs as well as the characteristics of the particles contained in the water that is being filtered. Whenever liquids containing fine particles pass through a porous media, the particles contained in the liquids will clog the upper layer of the media. The layer formed is often referred to as the colmation layer (e.g. Hiscocka and Grischek, 2002; Veličković, 2005). This phenomenon is illustrated in Figure 1, where water containing fine particles are filtered through a coarser medium.

Time Zero, a new leakage is formed. Particles in the liquid start to move with the liquid flow towards the backfill material surface. The liquid still exfiltrates unhindered.



A few minutes or hours after a new leak is formed, a bridging layer develops on top of the backfill material. The exfiltration rate is governed by the permeability of this layer.



After a new leak is formed, the particles from the liquid slowly migrate deep into the pores of the soil and form a colmation layer. This process takes days or weeks.



#### Figure 1 Colmation of a porous media

The clogging causes the formation of a colmation layer, which subsequently will govern the hydraulic capacity of the filter surface, and which also will define the active pore size of the filter material. Ultimately this leads to filter surfaces being able to retain particles significantly finer than the pore size of the virgin filter material. This phenomenon is well-known from various contexts where it has been shown to significantly enhance the ability of a soil to



retain pollutants (Vollertsen and Hvitved-Jacobsen, 2003, Dizer et al., 2004; Levy et all, 2011; Harvey et al., 2015). However, this gain does come at the cost of a reduced hydraulic capacity.

Very fine particles and colloids may remain mobile within soil pore spaces. Whilst the exact size of particles that can do this is not well-defined, they are typically within the colloid range. The understanding of this process is though still rather limited (Grayling et al., 2018).

All in all, and conceptually speaking, it is clear that OMP attached to or incorporated in particles will be retained if the particles are retained. Similarly will microplastics be retained if they are larger than what can be mobile in the soil matrix. A concrete quantification of what can pass through the soil and what cannot is though not possible with today's knowledge. From other areas of research it is known that for example silver nanoparticles can be retained efficiently in various soils (Degenkolb et al., 2018; He et al., 2019). It seems likely that microplastics – or at least some of the materials that constitute the microplastics – can also be retained quite efficiently even at the nanometric scale.

#### 2.2 Degradation of OMP and MP

Some of the OMP will be degraded in the water phase, and some in the sediment phase. How fast MP is degraded is debated, but it is a well-established fact that plastics are not as durable as popular believes make them. Macroplastics are often degraded within years do decades, even when applying substantial efforts to conserve them, for example as museum exhibits (Shashoua, 2006). How fast microplastics are degraded is basically unknown (Li et al., 2018).

With respect to OMP, some substances are readily degradable by microorganisms while others are not. Most OMP are degraded by co-metabolism, where the degradation of the pollutant depends on the presence of a primary substrate (Lolas et al., 2012; Fischer and Majewsky et al, 2014; Gonzalez-Gil et al., 2017). In co-metabolism, an enzyme produced to catalyse the degradation of a metabolic substrate is also capable of degrading an OMP. In some cases, simultaneous catabolism can also play a role, where an organism derives energy from the degradation of both substrates. Similar to primary substrates, the degradation of many OMP will depend on the redox conditions, especially on the availability of oxygen. Many substances are degraded to varying degrees under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions, albeit typically by different species of micro-organisms. An example is the group of PAHs (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons) where the preferred degradation route is by molecular oxygen, but in anaerobic conditions degradation can also take place by organisms reducing sulphate, nitrate and metal compounds as well as by methanogens (Nzila, 2018).

Some substances are readily degraded without the intervention of microorganisms. Oxidative processes and hydrolysis can occur, for example, through light (photodegradation) (e.g. Minelgaite et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017). Other forms of chemical degradation do also occur, for example by heat, acids, alkalis, salts, galvanic forces, etcetera. Which specific degradation process is actually responsible is seldom known specifically, but photodegradation is often expected to be a major mechanism responsible for chemical degradation of OMP.

Both biological and chemical degradation can cause the formation of breakdown products which also may be environmentally problematic, an issue which is well-known for, amongst



others, pesticides. For example the formation of aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) during glyphosate degradation (e.g. Imfeld et al., 2013).

#### 2.2.1 Plant uptake

Plants (macrophytes) do take up some pollutants from the surroundings, but plant uptake is in general not a viewed as an important process for the overall removal of pollutants from stormwater (Istenic et al., 2012; Stephansen et al., 2014). It is commonly assumed that the primary role of macrophytes, being they emergent or submerged, for treatment in a road runoff treatment system is to stabilize sediment beds and hereby reduce the risk of resuspension, and to reduce turbulence in the water phase and hereby enhance sedimentation (Brix, 1999).

#### 2.2.2 Dilution and equalization of OMP and MP discharges

The time-scale of the impacts caused by an OMP or MP is important for how treatment should address the mitigation of these pollutants. If for example a pollutant has an acute toxic impact on the receiving environment but only occurs infrequently in the runoff, for example pesticides, attenuation and dilution is an appropriate approach to manage such event. The same is the case for managing of accidental spills, which can cause quite severe localized damage. Accidents are, however, infrequent and do seldom contribute substantially to the annual pollution load of a region. Attenuation and dilution can hence be an appropriate mitigation method. However, if the impact is cumulative, for example that of most heavy metals, it is important to bring down the annual load, while peak concentrations are of lesser or no importance.

Most of the pollutants in road runoff cause accumulate impacts and a main goal of road runoff treatment solutions is hence to reduce the annual load to the environment. But for accidental spills, peak concentrations commonly are of little or no consequence in this respect. Looking at treatment efficiencies, it is hence of limited value to study the efficiency of a system to mitigate a single runoff event. Instead the long-term load-reduction to the environment should be addressed.

# 3 Final remarks

The processes that are involved in retaining OMP and MP in road runoff treatment solutions, or for that matter in urban stormwater ponds, are still only understood at a rather generic level. Detailed knowledge of what exactly goes on in terms of physical, chemical, and biological processes in these systems is generally lacking. This fact has also been emphasized by several researchers attempting to model these systems, either as single systems, or by integrated approaches (Griffiths et al., 2017; Scott and Frost, 2017; Guan et al, 2018; Yang et al, 2018). As a consequence, the prediction of which substances and materials can be detained to what extend by which treatment system configuration will be similar generic. In other words, we will be able to put forward statements like "fluoranthene is retained rather efficiently in a soil filtration system because it has a high  $K_{OW}$ -value" and also come with statements like "fluoranthene will likely be contained more efficiently in a soil filtration system than acenaphthylene, because the latter has a lower log  $K_{OW}$  value (5.16 and 3.93, respectively)". However, we will not be able to deduct the actual retention rate in a concrete system from theoretical knowledge only. To gain that information we will need to



conduct experimental studies and investigations on the substances and systems in question. We might then even dare some guestimates on retainment efficiency for similar substances, extrapolating our knowledge from the obtained database.

# 4 Acknowledgement

The research presented in this report was carried out as part of the CEDR Transnational Road Research Programme Call 2016. The funding for the research was provided by the national road administrations of Austria, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Norway, Netherlands and Sweden.

### **5** References

- Arias-Estevez M, Lopez-Periago E, Martinez-Carballo E, Simal-Gandara J, Mejuto JC, Garcia-Rio L (2008). The mobility and degradation of pesticides in soils and the pollution of groundwater resources. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 123(4): 247–260
- Andradottir HO (2017). Impact of wind on stormwater pond particulate removal. Journal of Environmental Engineering, 143(8): 04017027
- Atkins P, Paula J (2014). Atkins' Physical Chemistry. Oxford University Press. ISBN: 9780199697403
- Bentzen TR, Larsen T, Rasmussen MR (2009. Predictions of resuspension of highway detention pond deposits in interrain event periods due to wind-induced currents and waves. Journal of Environmental Engineering-Asce, 135 (12):1286-1293.
- Bollmann, U. E., Ou, Y., Mayer, P., Trapp, S., Bester, K. (2015). Polyacrylate-water Partitioning of biocidal compounds: Enhancing the understanding of biocide partitioning between render and water. Chemosphere, 119, 1021-1026.
- Brix H. (1997). Do macrophytes play a role in constructed treatment wetlands? Water Science and Technology 35(5):11-17.
- Degenkolb, L., Metreveli, G., Philippe, A., Brandt, A., Leopold, K., Zehlike, L., Vogel, H., Schaumann, G. E., Baumann, T., Kaupenjohann, M., Lang, F., Kumahor, S., Klitzke, S. (2018). Retention and remobilization mechanisms of environmentally aged silver nanoparticles in an artificial riverbank filtration system. Science of the Total Environment, 645, 192-204.
- Delle Site A (2001). Factors affecting sorption of organic compounds in natural sorbent/water systems and sorption coefficients for selected pollutants. A review. Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data 30(1):187-439.
- Dizer H, Grutzmacher G, Bartel H, Wiese H, Szewzyk R, Lopez-Pila J (2004). Contribution of the colmation layer to the elimination of coliphages by slow sand filtration. Water Science and Technology 50(2):211-214.
- Fischer K and Majewsky M (2014). Cometabolic degradation of organic wastewater micropollutants by activated sludge and sludge-inherent microorganisms. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 98(15):6583-6597.

Giering, S. L. C., Sanders, R., Martin, A. P., Henson, S. A., Riley, J. S., Marsay, C. M., Johns, D. G. (2017). Particle flux in the oceans: Challenging the steady state assumption. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 31(1), 159-171.



- Gonzalez-Gil L, Carballa M, Lema JM (2017). Cometabolic enzymatic transformation of organic micropollutants under methanogenic conditions. Environmental Science \& Technology 51(5):2963-2971.
- Grayling KM, Young SD, Roberts CJ, de Heer MI, Shirley IM, Sturrock CJ, Mooney SJ (2018). The application of X-ray micro computed tomography imaging for tracing particle movement in soil. Geoderma 321:8-14
- Griffiths, L. N. and Mitsch, W. J. (2017). Removal of nutrients from urban stormwater runoff by storm-pulsed and seasonally pulsed created wetlands in the subtropics. Ecological Engineering, 108(B), 414-424.
- Guan, M., Ahilan, S., Yu, D., Peng, Y., Wright, N. (2018). Numerical modelling of hydromorphological processes dominated by fine suspended sediment in a stormwater pond. Journal of Hydrology, 556, 87-99.
- Harvey RW, Metge DW, LeBlanc DR, Underwood J, Aiken GR, Butler K, McCobb TD, Jasperse J (2015). Importance of the colmation layer in the transport and removal of cyanobacteria, viruses, and dissolved organic carbon during natural lake-bank filtration. Journal of Environmental Quality 44(5):1413-1423.
- He, J., Wang, D., Zhou, D. (2019). Transport and retention of silver nanoparticles in soil: Effects of input concentration, particle size and surface coating. Science of the Total Environment, 648, 102-108.
- Hiscocka K M and Grischek T (2002). Attenuation of groundwater pollution by bank filtration. Journal of Hydrology 266: 139-144
- Hvitved-Jacobsen T, Vollertsen J, Nielsen A H (2010). Urban and Highway Stormwater Pollution – Concepts and Engineering. CRC Press/Taylor & Francis Group, pp 347, ISBN: 978-1-4398-2685-0
- Imfeld G, Lefrancq M, Maillard E, Payraudeau S (2013). Transport and attenuation of dissolved glyphosate and AMPA in a stormwater wetland. Chemosphere 90(4):1333-1339.
- Istenic D, Arias CA, Vollertsen J, Nielsen AH, Wium-Andersen T, Hvitved-Jacobsen T, Brix H (2012). Improved urban stormwater treatment and pollutant removal pathways in amended wet detention ponds. Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part a-toxic/hazardous Substances \& Environmental Engineering 47(10):1466-1477.
- Levy J, Birck MD, Mutiti S, Kilroy KC, Windeler B, Idris O, Allen LN (2011). The impact of storm events on a riverbed system and its hydraulic conductivity at a site of induced infiltration. Journal of Environmental Management 92(8):1960-1971.
- Li, Y., Wolanski, E., Dai, Z., Lambrechts, J., Tang, C., Zhang, H. (2018. Trapping of plastics in semi-enclosed seas: Insights from the Bohai Sea, China. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 137, 509-517.
- Linders, T., Infantes, E., Joyce, A., Karlsson, T., Ploug, H., Hassellov, M., Skold, M., Zetsche, E. (2018). Particle sources and transport in stratified Nordic coastal seas in the Anthropocene. Elementa-Science of the Anthropocene, 6(1), 29.
- Liu F, Olsen KB, Borregaard AR, Vollertsen J (in prep). Microplastics in sediments of stormwater ponds. In preparation for Science of the Total Environment
- Lolas IB, Chen X, Bester K, Nielsen JL (2012). Identification of triclosan-degrading bacteria using stable isotope probing, fluorescence in situ hybridization and microautoradiography. Microbiology-Sgm 158(11):2796-2804.



- Madsen H I, Vollertsen J and Hvitved-Jacobsen T (2007). Modelling the oxygen mass balance of wet detention ponds receiving highway runoff. In: Highway and Urban Environment. Book Series: Alliance for Global Sustainability Series, Vol. 12, pp 487-497, ISBN 978-1-4020-6009-0
- Minelgaite G, Nielsen AH, Pedersen ML, Vollertsen J (2017). Photodegradation of three stormwater biocides. Urban Water Journal 14(1):53-60.
- Nzila A (2018). Biodegradation of high-molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons under anaerobic conditions: Overview of studies, proposed pathways and future perspectives. Environmental Pollution 239:788-802.
- Olesen KB, Stephansen DA, Vollertsen J (in prep). Microplastics in a stormwater pond. In preparation for Water Research
- Pazwash H (2011). Urban Storm Water Management. CRC Press, ISBN-13: 978-1439810354
- Porter, A., Lyons, B. P., Galloway, T. S., Lewis, C. (2018). Role of Marine Snows in Microplastic Fate and Bioavailability. Environmental Science and Technology, 52 (12), 7111-7119
- Richardson, T. L. (2019). Mechanisms and Pathways of Small-Phytoplankton Export from the Surface Ocean. In: Carlson, C., Giovannoni, S. (Eds.), Annual Review of Marine Science, 11, 57-74.
- Scott, A. B. Frost, P. C. (2017. Monitoring water quality in Toronto's urban stormwater ponds: Assessing participation rates and data quality of water sampling by citizen scientists in the FreshWater Watch. Science of the Total Environment, 592, 738-744.
- Shashoua, Y. (2006). Inhibiting the inevitable; current approaches to slowing the deterioration of plastics. Macromolecular Symposia, 238, 67-77.
- Stephansen, D.A., Nielsen, A.H., Hvitved-Jacobsen, T., Arias, C.A., Brix, H., Vollertsen, J., 2014. Distribution of metals in fauna, flora and sediments of wet detention ponds and natural shallow lakes. Ecological Engineering, 66: 43-51
- Straub, S., Hirsch, P. E., Burkhardt-Holm, P. (2017). Biodegradable and Petroleum-Based Microplastics Do Not Differ in Their Ingestion and Excretion but in Their Biological Effects in a Freshwater Invertebrate Gammarus fossarum. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 14 (7), 774.
- Stukel, M. R., Song, H., Goericke, R., Miller, A. J. (2018). The role of subduction and gravitational sinking in particle export, carbon sequestration, and the remineralization length scale in the California Current Ecosystem. Limnology and Oceanography, 63(1), 363-383.
- Styszko, K., Bollmann, U. E., Wangler, T. P., Bester, K. (2014). Desorption of biocides from renders modified with acrylate and silicone. Chemosphere, 95, 188-192.
- Summers, S., Henry, T., Gutierrez, T. (2018). Agglomeration of nano- and microplastic particles in seawater by autochthonous and de novo-produced sources of exopolymeric substances. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 130, 258-267
- Torres AM, Momparler SP, Jefferies C, Doménech IA (2015). Report on Stormwater Management. ©2015 E<sup>2</sup>STORMED Project.
- Zhurbas, V. M., Elken, J., Vaeli, G., Kuzmina, N. P., Paka, V. T. (2010). Pathways of Suspended Particles Transport in the Bottom Layer of the Southern Baltic Sea Depending on the Wind Forcing (Numerical Simulation). Oceanology, 50 (6), 841-854



- Veličković B (2005). Colmation as one of the processes in interaction between the groundwater and surface water. Facta Universitatis Series: Architecture and Civil Engineering, 3(2): 165-172
- Vink JPM, van Zomeren A, Dijkstra JJ, Comans RNJ (2017). When soils become sediments: Large-scale storage of soils in sandpits and lakes and the impact of reduction kinetics on heavy metals and arsenic release to groundwater. Environmental Pollution 227:146-156.
- Vollertsen J and Hvitved-Jabobsen T (2003). Exfiltration from gravity sewers: a pilot scale study. Water Science and Technology, 47(4): 69-76
- Wang Y, Roddick FA, Fan L (2017). Direct and indirect photolysis of seven micropollutants in secondary effluent from a wastewater lagoon. Chemosphere 185:297-308.
- Wekerle, C., Krumpen, T., Dinter, T., von Appen, W., Iversen, M. H., Salter, I. (2018. Properties of Sediment Trap Catchment Areas in Fram Strait: Results From Lagrangian Modeling and Remote Sensing. Frontiers in Marine Science, 5, Article Number: UNSP 407.
- Wium-Andersen T, Nielsen AH, Hvitved-Jacobsen T, Kristensen NK, Brix H, Arias C, Vollertsen J (2012). Sorption media for stormwater treatment a laboratory evaluation of five low-cost media for their ability to remove metals and phosphorous from artificial stormwater. Water Environment Research, 84(7):605-616
- Yang, Y. and Lusk, M. G. (2018). Nutrients in Urban Stormwater Runoff: Current State of the Science and Potential Mitigation Options. Current Pollution Reports, 4(2), 112-127.

